RECEIVED

Aug 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

G. Wells Dickson, Jr., Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2025-000064

Gina M. Derry and Catherine M. Stone, Appellants

v.

Ray A. Zuber and Ellen R. Zuber, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Mary Patricia Crawford, Esquire
S.C. Bar # 101455
PO Box 654
Walterboro, SC 29455
843-810-0405
thecrawfordlawfirmllc@gmail.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the trial Court err when it reasoned that establishing a disputed boundary line by acquiescence requires that acquiescence must occur for “a long period of time”?
2. Did the trial Court err when it determined that the Respondents did not acquiesce in establishing the disputed boundary line by acquiescence?
3. Did the trial Court err in when it determined that the Respondents did acquiesce to the boundary line their actions and inactions did not “justify” moving the boundary line between the properties?
4. Did the trial Court err when it determined that in order for equity to prevail to the benefit of the Appellants the entire neighborhood owners must also benefit from the change in the disputed boundary line?
5. Did the trial Court err when it determined that the constructive knowledge of the existence of the survey done at the time of purchase, despite the existence of an original subdivision plat and several differing subsequent surveys of the same property, defeats the argument of equity by acquiescence?
6. Did the trial Court err when it determined that the Appellants were using equitable estoppel acquiescence as an offensive action?
7. Did the Court err when it determined that the most recent survey taken of the properties overrode the boundary lines established in the original plat for the purposes of establishing a development?
8. Did the trial Court err when it denied the Appellants’ request to amend or alter the Final Order in light of the Court’s own findings of fact and applicable law?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing decisions rendered by a Master in Equity the scope of review for a case heard by a Master in Equity who enters a final judgment is the same as that for review of a case heard by a circuit court without a jury." *Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 229, 237, 391 S.E.2d 538, 543 (1990).

When reviewing an equitable action heard first by a Master in Equity and after a S.C.R.C.P. Rule 59 (e) motion has been heard and the issue of amending/altering of the Final Order has been decided by the Master in Equity and appealed to the appellate court, the court should review the facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of evidence in the record." *Osterneck v. Osterneck*, 374 S.C. 573, 577, 649 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 2007).

"This broad scope of review does not require the appellate court to ignore the fact that the Master in Equity was in a better position to assess the credibility of witnesses and assign weight to their testimony." *Id*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants filed this action in the Court of Common Pleas of Clarendon County, State of South Carolina on March 30, 2017 and undertook the burden of proof. Both the Appellants and the Respondents participated fully in a trial before Special Referee, G. Wells Dickson, Jr. at which time they had opportunity to introduce evidence in support of their claims and in opposition to the defenses.

Following that trial, Special Referee, G. Wells Dickson, Jr. ruled in favor of Respondents, denying quiet title action based on adverse possession or balancing of equities made by Appellants; denying the claim for compensation for the value of the improvements made by

Appellants to the “Disputed Strip”; denying Respondents’ claims of fraud and constructive fraud as well as Respondents’ claims for resultant actual and punitive damages; declaring the “Disputed Strip” is owned by the Respondents and had been since their purchase of their property in 2004; Ordering an immediate injunction requiring Appellants to remove all improvements from Respondents’ property no later than forty-five (45) days after the date of the Order; cancelling the Lis Pendens filed on March 30, 2017; and retaining jurisdiction to address subsequent motions or other actions to the jurisdiction of this particular Special Referee.

Motion having been served upon the Appellants by the Respondents on May 16, 2023 and filed with the Court of Common Pleas in Clarendon County on May 15, 2023, and served by the Respondents on May 16, 2023, on the ground that the Order in the specific incidences set forth herein constitute error, abuse of discretion, and are against the weight of testimony and other evidence in the record.

Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, the Court granted the request that the Court reconsider its Order dated May 11, 2023 (the “Order”) based on its determination that pursuant to Rule 59(e) and Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) the trial Court had failed to rule on an issue which was raised by the Respondents concerning the equitable issue of acquiescence.

On August 9, 2023 a hearing was held on the Appellants’ Motion to Reconsider and Alter or Amend. On December 9, 2024 the trial court issued its decision.

On January 6, 2025 Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal with the Court of Common Pleas, County of Clarendon, State of South Carolina.

On March 13, 2025 Appellant received the transcript for the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider and Alter or Amend.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. That the Appellants are the owners of certain real property located in Clarendon County, South Carolina known as Lot 65 of Quail Ridge Shores Subdivision (identified as Clarendon County Tax Map Number 160-03-00-018).
2. That the Respondents are the owners of certain real property located in Clarendon County, South Carolina known as Lot 64 of Quail Ridge Shores Subdivision (identified as Clarendon County Tax Map Number 160-03-00-020).
3. That the Appellants obtained title to their property by deed of George M. Laney on November 29, 2005, said deed having been recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Clarendon County on November 29, 2005 in Deed Book 740 at Page 214.
4. That the Respondents obtained title to their property by deed of Jeanne M. Ward on December 2, 2004, said deed having been recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Clarendon County on December 2, 2004 in Deed Book 554 at Page 153.
5. That in August of 2016, the Appellants added to their existing concrete driveway and installed a metal-framed carport on the southern side of their lot, the side adjacent to the Respondents' property.
6. That after the construction of the driveway and carport, the Respondents inquired of the Appellants whether the additions to the driveway and carport met the minimum setback requirements for the County of Clarendon.
7. That as a result of this inquiry, the Appellants retained Mathis & Muldrow Land Surveying to survey Lots 64 and 65; said survey, dated August 29, 2016, revealed that the driveway, carport, fencing, and boat ramp encroach onto the Respondents' lot, said encroachment at its widest point being 9.97 feet, as is shown on the survey.

8. That after the construction of the driveway and carport, the Respondents inquired of the Appellants whether the additions to the driveway and carport met the minimum setback requirements for the County of Clarendon.
9. That the property in dispute is that certain portion of Lot 65 referred to as "Disputed Strip," said Disputed Strip believed to be 0.03 acres between fence and actual property line.
10. That the Appellants placed and constructed the driveway and metal- framed carport based on the property line that had been established and confirmed by the Respondents on various occasions since the Appellants purchased their property.
11. That on or about November 29, 2005, the Respondents walked over to the Appellants' yard to meet the Appellants and show them the property line, with Defendant Ray A. Zuber implementing a tape measure to verify the property lines.
12. That since November 29, 2005, the Appellants have continuously, hostilely, openly, actually, and notoriously held uninterrupted and exclusive possession of the Disputed Strip.
13. That the Appellants had pine trees cut down on the Disputed Strip in 2006, and the Respondents were aware of the tree cutting and further inquired as to the price.
14. That in the spring of 2006, the Respondents requested that the Appellants limb three (3) trees which had been planted on the Disputed Strip by the previous owners of the Appellants' parcel to enable the Defendant Ray A. Zuber to maneuver his lawnmower while cutting the grass without the limbs hitting him.
15. That in or about 2012, the Appellants had the three (3) trees referenced in Paragraph 15 on the Disputed Strip cut down and the Respondents expressed appreciation that said trees were cut down.

16. That in the spring of 2006, the Appellants had a concrete driveway installed and added a wooden fence along the driveway at the entrance from Hudson Road, as is shown in "Exhibit D" attached hereto.
17. That in March of 2007, the Appellants installed a metal wire fence with wood framing and posts at both ends referenced as "Wood Fence" on the August 29, 2016 survey, on the southwestern side of the property separating the property of the Appellants and the Respondents. As the fence was being constructed, the Respondents walked over to confirm that the fence was located on the Appellants' property and not encroaching on the Respondents' property.
18. That since its installation, the Appellants and the Respondents have planted various shrubs and flowers along the fence.
19. That in the summer of 2009, the Appellants had an electrical service pole that was located on the Disputed Strip removed so that they could avoid the monthly cost; the Respondents were aware of this, as access was requested via their driveway by the electrical company.
20. That in or about 2015, the Appellants applied for and constructed a new seawall and boat ramp, and during the construction process, the Respondents signed a Consent Form as required by Santee Cooper. March 5, 2020 Transcript, p. 19, lines 20-25; p. 20, lines 1-5.
21. That said application required that the seawall and boat ramp be constructed six (6) feet from the Respondents' property line (said seawall and boat ramp depicted in "Exhibit G" attached hereto).
22. That Defendant Ray A. Zuber, using a measuring tape, showed the contractor the property line and where six (6) feet from that line would be prior to his constructing the seawall that is now known to be over the platted property line.

23. That it was the Respondents who established the property line between Lots 64 and 65.

ARGUMENT

In determining whether or not the Court should alter or amend its final order to find that the “Disputed Strip” should be titled to the Appellants and should strike the demand for injunction against Appellants based on the equitable theory of acquiescence the Court should consider both the doctrine of estoppel and the doctrine of estoppel by acquiescence. Under the doctrine of estoppel “a man, as a matter of fact, may not have any right; he may think he has a right. He may not. He may be a trespasser, but he may be honest and really think that he has a right to do so and so. He goes and spends his money, may spend thousands; the other man knows the first man has no right; although the first man honestly believes that he did have the right the second man stands by, knowing the first man had no right to do it, and permits him to innocently go and spend maybe hundreds or thousands of dollars erecting property there at great cost, believing he had a right to do it. The law says that in good conscience the second man must assert his right and say, ‘You must not do that, that's my property’; and, [when] he stands by, by acts or words and does anything to encourage the man to go on and doesn't object when the law says he ought to speak up, that's the doctrine of estoppel”, Southern Railway Co. v. Day, 138 S.E. 870 (S.C. 1926)

The doctrine of estoppel by acquiescence rests upon the general principle that: “When one of two innocent persons — that is, persons each guiltless of an intentional moral wrong — must suffer a loss it must be borne by that one of them who by his conduct, acts, or omissions has rendered the injury possible.” Chambers v. Bookman, 67 S.C. 432; 46 S.E., 39.

Where the Court has found that there has been no evidence of actual or constructive fraud on the part of the Appellants (“guiltless of an intentional moral[legal] wrong”) and where, as in the instant case, the Court has found that trespass does not lie against the Appellants and where

the facts as stated in their pleadings and as testified to in open Court, the Respondents have failed to act on the placement of the fence on their property from the time of the initial construction of the fence in 2007 until the Appellants erected the carport in 2015 and filed suit in 2017 to quiet title to the Disputed Strip, the Respondents, have, by their omissions and actions rendered the injury of loss of title to land possible and must suffer that loss.

One of the main foundations to the assertion of the doctrine of estoppel is innocence and good faith on the part of the parties asserting the estoppel. In this case Appellants evidenced that they made inquiry as to the status of the boundary line before acting on the premises. The Court found that they asked the very Respondents themselves who lived in the adjoining lot (which is the subject of this action) prior to the Appellants purchasing and moving onto the lot. The Respondents themselves asserted that they did not have knowledge that the property was not as delineated by the fence, yet contrary to their own assertions it was not until a structure was erected inside the fence line on the Appellants' side, that they finally assert that that very structure "encroached on their property". Respondents' own submissions to the Court bely the disingenuousness of some lack of knowledge on their part that the property line established by the fence was not correct. (R. p. 11)

The Court believed that the Appellants ought to have known that the boundary line was not as they had thought, despite the presentation by multiple witnesses, including the very Respondents themselves, that there were multiple plats surveyed and drawn by trained and licensed professional surveyors depicting different boundaries from 1988 through 2016 and the Appellants were deceived by the acts/omissions and words of the Respondents, and it is these facts upon which the Appellants rely to pursue estoppel by acquiescence.

Respondents admitted to following the fence boundary line while mowing the lawn and while landscaping along that property line. Further, Appellants removed and trimmed trees within the Disputed Strip as if the Strip was indeed theirs, in consultation with and without objection and confirmation of the property line by/from the Respondents. It was not until the Appellants themselves erected a carport and filed to quiet title that the Respondents took any action whatsoever to determine boundary lines in direct opposition to those provided by the Respondents themselves to the Appellants. (R. p. 11)

In addition, it was from the Respondents representation by their acts of landscaping along “their” side of the fence and by their omissions in not stating that the fence was not the property boundary line from which the Court determined that the parties operated with the 2007 fence between the two lots as the property line. (R. p. 11)

Where, as here, the Court has found that there has been no evidence of actual or constructive fraud on the part of the Appellants (“guiltless of an intentional moral[legal] wrong”) and where, as in the instant case, the Court has found that trespass does not lie against the Appellants and where the facts as stated in their pleadings and as testified to in open Court, the Respondents have failed to act on the placement of the fence on their property from the time of the initial construction of the fence in 2007 until the Appellants erected the carport in 2015 and filed suit in 2017 to quiet title to the Disputed Strip, the Respondents, have, by their omissions and actions rendered the injury of loss of title to land possible and must suffer that loss.

As late as 2015 the Respondents signed a government document recognizing that the seawall as constructed was within the required footage which was referenced from the fence line as the property line. (R. p. 11). Respondents cannot assert at one time the boundary line was correct, while they liked what the Appellants were doing on the property and then assert that the

same boundary line is not correct when they did not like what the Appellants were doing on the property. Respondents by their own omissions and actions show that they knew where the line was, but failed to object to any such actions as encroachments on “their property”.

As noted in our courts, a disputed boundary line can be established by acquiescence of the parties. Kirkland v. Gross, 286 S.C. 193, 197, 332 S.E.2d 546, 548-49 (Ct. App. 1985), receded from on other grounds by Boyd v. Hyatt, 294 S.C. 360, 364 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 1988). [A]cquiescence is a question of fact determined by the intent of the parties. Id. at 198, 332 S.E.2d at 549. [I]f a party stands by, and sees another dealing with property in a manner inconsistent with his rights, and makes no objection, he cannot afterwards have relief. His silence permits or encourages others to part with their money or property, and he cannot complain that his interest[s] are affected. His silence is acquiescence and it estops him. McClintic v. Davis, 228 S.C. 378, 383, 90 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1955) (quoting S. Ry. v. Day, 140 S.C. 388, 138 S.E. 240 (1926)). In Bull v. Rowe, 13 S.C. 355, it is said: "It is a rule almost of universal application that one who stands by and sees another purchase land or enter upon it under a claim of right, and permits such other to make expenditures or improvements under circumstances which would call for notice or protest, cannot afterwards assert his own title against such person."

The Respondents stood by and saw the Appellants make improvements on the land in dispute at Appellants' own expense, but Respondents failed to object to the fence determining the boundary between the parties which “allowed” the Appellants to improve Appellants' land as understood and confirmed by the Respondents own actions. The Respondents cannot now raise objection after 9-12 years of acquiescing to its placement simply because the improvements are no longer to their liking.

Plats were offered in the instant case in support of the Respondents' contention that the boundaries on the ground (the fence) were/was incorrectly located on the Respondents' property. However, the record contains nothing to dispute Appellants' evidence they have lived on their property within the fenced boundaries as they claim since 2007. The plats simply show that at some point, the boundaries may have been as the Respondents assert they were intended.

ISSUE 1

Did the Court err when it reasoned that establishing a disputed boundary line by acquiescence requires that acquiescence must occur for "a long period of time"?

While the statutory requirements for the finding of adverse possession and those case law based requirements for the finding of acquiescence are similar they differ greatly in the amount of time which must have passed in order for a Party to be able to assert the estoppel by acquiescence principal. "The estoppel may arise, even though the period of acquiescence is very short." 21 C.J., 1161. See, also, *Champv. Nicholas County Court*, 72 W. Va., 475; 78 S.E., 361. Further, our own Courts, held in Southern Railway v. Day, supra, that an "estoppel may arise, even though the period of acquiescence is very short", and that in the case of estoppel, it is not necessary that such acquiescence continue for the period necessary to establish adverse possession.

"Acquiescence in a transaction may bar a party of his relief in a very short period. Thus, if one has knowledge of an act, or it is done with his full approbation, he cannot afterwards have relief. He is estopped by his acquiescence, and cannot undo that which has been done. So, if a party stands by, and sees another dealing with property in a manner inconsistent with his rights, and makes no objection, he cannot afterwards have relief. His silence permits or encourages others to part with their money or property, and he cannot complain that his interests are affected. His silence is acquiescence and it estops him." Southern Railway Co. v. Day, 138 S.E. 870 (S.C. 1926)

The Respondents in this matter must have known that the Appellants were constructing a fence, building a carport and pouring over the existing driveway and were doing so under a belief that they had a right to do so. The Respondents themselves knew or ought to have known , their own rights, for they had in their possession their deed and original plat, but failed to take action until the Appellants made the carport improvement within the fenced boundary line and filed the within action.

The Appellants constructed the subject fence in 2007 and the carport thereafter. The driveway was simply resurfaced by the Appellants and was used by the Respondents. So, while the statutory requirement of ten (10) years for the establishment of adverse possession may arguably not have been met, there is no such time frame requirement for the doctrine of estoppel by acquiescence which may as noted above be satisfied by a very short period of time.

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