5  
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY

AUG 25 2025

Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

G. Wells Dickson, Jr., Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2025-000064

Gina M. Derry and Catherine M. Stone, Appellants

v.

Ray A. Zuber and Ellen R. Zuber, Respondents.

**RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

William H. Johnson  
Johnson DuRant, LLC  
411 North Brooks Street  
Post Office Box 137  
Manning, SC 29102  
(803) 435-0909  
(855) 926-0923 Facsimile  
*Attorney for Respondents*

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT EQUITY SHOULD NOT REWARD THE APPELLANTS BUY ALLOWING THEM TO INCREASE THE SIZE OF THEIR LOT TO THE DETRIMENT OF RESPONDENT, WHO WITHDREW FROM OCCUPATION OF PROPERTY SHE MISTAKENLY BELIEVED TO BE HERS?
  
2. WILL EQUITY REWARD PROPERTY OWNER WHO PLACES IMPROVEMENTS ON PROPERTY OF ADJOINING OWNER DESPITE THE EXISTENCE OF A PLAT THAT CLEARLY DELINEATES THE CORRECT BOUNDARY?

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court's ruling should be affirmed. Appellants have failed to establish a boundary by acquiescence because South Carolina law requires clear, mutual recognition of a boundary line that differs from the deeded boundary, which is clearly absent here. Appellants' equitable estoppel claim also fails because Respondents made no false representations and Appellants' reliance was not reasonable given the recorded plat and surveys. The trial court's factual findings are supported by ample evidence and are entitled to deference. Appellants' additional arguments—including their theories regarding subdivision plats and procedural matters—lack any legal merit.

In light of the above, the trial court's ruling should be upheld in its entirety. South Carolina law requires clear mutual recognition to establish a boundary line by acquiescence. The evidence here, consisting of neighborly interactions and seemingly passive conduct, falls short of that standard. The equitable estoppel claim similarly fails because no misrepresentation or concealment by Respondents induced Appellants to act to their detriment.

The trial court's findings are well supported by both testimonial and documentary evidence, and its credibility determinations are entitled to substantial deference. Appellants' arguments regarding subdivision plats and procedural matters misstate the law and present no grounds for reversal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal arises from a boundary dispute between adjoining property owners in the Quail Ridge Shores Subdivision, Clarendon County, South Carolina. The Respondent, Ellen Zuber, owns Lot 64.<sup>1</sup> The Appellants, Gina Derry and Catherine Stone, own Lot 65. A 2016 survey performed by Steven Muldrow revealed that the longstanding physical markers separating the lots were incorrect and that multiple neighboring lot owners had constructed improvements inconsistent with the legal boundary lines. (R. p. 63, lines 8-25; R. p. 278; R. p. 262).

Following discovery of the discrepancy, all affected neighbors—except the Appellants—took corrective action. Roberta Jordan, who owned Lot 66 to the left of the Appellants, removed a fence encroaching onto Lot 65 and began maintaining their property in accordance with the corrected boundary. (See R. p. 16) [hereinafter “Reconsideration Order”]. The Zubers likewise relocated a storage shed that had encroached onto their other neighbor’s lot. *Id.* The only parties who refused to move improvements or adjust usage were the Appellants, who instead sought legal title to the disputed area—a strip approximately 9.97 feet wide at its broadest point. ( R. p. 57, lines 10–22).

At trial, the Appellants confirmed they paid for a survey at closing in 2005. That survey—prepared by DuValle Elliott—depicted the property boundaries and referenced an encroachment from the Jordans on the opposite side of Lot 65. (R. p. 263). Appellants testified that they were not shown the plat until years later, but the Special Referee found they had at least constructive notice of the true boundary. (R. p. 10-11).

Despite receiving the corrected Muldrow plat in 2016, the Appellants left their fence, carport, and concrete improvements in place, knowingly encroaching on Lot 64. (R. pp. 278-288).

---

<sup>1</sup> Ray Zuber passed away on July 29, 2024. The property was deeded to Ray and Ellen Zuber jointly with the right of survivorship. Accordingly, the Zuber lot is now solely owned by Ellen Zuber.

Their improvements also violated the Clarendon County zoning code, which requires a minimum six-foot side setback. (See R. pp. 11-12). The Appellants' refusal to correct their encroachment contrasted sharply with the actions of the Jordans and the Zubers, who had adjusted their property usage in response to the same survey.

The Special Referee found that permitting the Appellants to retain the disputed strip would constitute unjust enrichment, as it would leave them with a larger-than-standard lot in the subdivision and reduce the Zubers' lot to a non-conforming size under zoning regulations. (See R. pp. 17-18). The Referee expressly rejected Appellants' argument that the fence reflected a mutually agreed boundary line, finding no evidence that the parties intended to fix the property line by its placement. *Id.*; See R. p. 129, lines 12–18 (testimony of Catherine Stone that fence was installed as a barrier, not a marker).

In sum, the record shows that Appellants had constructive notice of the legal boundary, refused to adjust their encroachment, and now seek to claim land to which they have no legal entitlement—despite the corrective actions taken by all other affected neighbors.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An action to quiet title resides in equity. *Osterneck v. Osterneck*, 374 S.C. 573, 577, 649 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 2007). When reviewing an equitable action heard first by a master-in-equity and appealed directly to an appellate court, the court should review the facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of evidence in the record. *Id.* An appellate court's "scope of review for a case heard by a Master-in-Equity who enters a final judgment is the same as that for review of a case heard by a circuit court without a jury. *Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 229, 391 S.E.2d 538 (1990) (citing *Wingfall v. Fobbs*, 295 S.C. 59, 60-61, 367 S.E.2d 156, 157 (1988)). In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the

judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge' findings. *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

In reviewing equitable matters, this court may review based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Williams v. Wilson*, 349 S.C. 336, 339-40, 563 S.E.2d 320, 322 (2002). However, we should not disregard the findings of the special referee, who was in a better position to weigh the credibility of witnesses. *Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 229 at 237 (affording deference to the master in an equitable action). Questions regarding credibility and the weight of the evidence are exclusively for the trial court. *Sheek v. Crimestoppers Alarm Sys.*, 297 S.C. 375, 377, 377 S.E.2d 132, 133 (Ct. App. 1989). "We may not consider the case based on our view of the preponderance of the evidence, but must construe the evidence presented to the [trial court] so as to support [its] decision wherever reasonably possible." *Id.* "We must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the respondents and eliminate from consideration all evidence to the contrary." *Id.*

## **ARGUMENT**

In order for the Appellants to prevail, the Court must judicially move the boundary separating the properties from the location described in the deeds to the parties. Where a deed describes land as is shown on a certain plat, such plat becomes a part of the deed. *Klapman v. Hook et al.*, 206 S.C. 51, 32 S.E.2d 882 (1945); *Holly Hill Lumber Co., Inc. v. Grooms et al.*, 198 S.C. 118, 16 S.E.2d 816 (1941). In their complaint (See R. p. 25), Appellants claimed that the theory of adverse possession should be the basis of the judicial movement of the property line. Before this court, they rely upon the theory of acquiescence.

### **I. The Trial Court Properly Found No Boundary by Acquiescence.**

Under South Carolina law, to establish a boundary by acquiescence, there must be mutual recognition and acceptance of a dividing line that differs from the recorded boundary. *Kirkland v. Gross*, 286 S.C. 193, 332 S.E.2d 546 (Ct. App. 1985). [A]cquiescence is a question of fact determined by the intent of the parties. *Id.* at 198, 332 S.E.2d at 549. A boundary by acquiescence requires clear and convincing evidence that both adjoining landowners mutually recognized and accepted a particular line as the true boundary for a substantial period. *Croft v. Sanders*, 283 S.C. 507, 509–10, 323 S.E.2d 791, 792–93 (Ct. App. 1984). The doctrine is not satisfied merely by the presence of a fence or structures near a property line, nor by a lack of dispute for several years. Casual acts of cooperation, such as mowing near a fence or neighborly silence do not suffice. There must be actual, mutual agreement or conduct clearly establishing such acceptance.

In *Croft*, the court rejected a similar claim of boundary by acquiescence where the only evidence was the existence of a fence and the absence of objection over time. The court emphasized that “the mere existence of a fence...is insufficient to establish a boundary by acquiescence” unless the adjoining owners clearly intended it to represent the true boundary. *Id.*

Similarly, in this case, Appellants rely primarily on the presence of a fence, incidental landscaping, and neighborly interactions as evidence of acquiescence. However, as in *Croft*, there is no credible evidence whatsoever that Respondents expressly or implicitly agreed to treat these features as the legal property line. Respondents neither made representations to that effect nor engaged in conduct that would reasonably create a belief that they had surrendered part of their deeded land. The trial court correctly found no mutual agreement. The parties’ interactions were typical of neighboring landowners but did not rise to the level of establishing a new legal boundary, and the court properly rejected Appellants’ expansive reading of the doctrine. Any perceived mutuality was destroyed when the neighbors to either side of the Appellants discovered that the

previous markers had been placed incorrectly. The neighbors to either side of the Appellants demonstrated their intent to rely upon the legal boundaries established by deed and plat. The trial court found, based on testimonial and documentary evidence, that there was no mutual recognition of a new boundary. That finding is well-supported by law and fact and should not be disturbed on appeal.

## **II. The Trial Court Correctly Applied Equitable Estoppel Principles**

To prevail on a claim of equitable estoppel, a party must demonstrate (1) a representation or concealment of a material fact, (2) made with the intent that it be acted upon, (3) which is relied upon by the other party who lacks knowledge or means of knowledge of the truth, (4) and who changes their position to their detriment in reliance upon the misrepresentation. *McClintic v. Davis*, 228 S.C. 378, 383, 90 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1955). This doctrine is intended to prevent one party from misleading another and then benefitting from that deception. However, it must be proven by clear and convincing evidence *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 87, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (Ct. App. 2007).

### **A. No Misrepresentation or Concealment Occurred**

The record lacks evidence that Respondents made false representations regarding the boundary. Appellants cite alleged silence, landscaping practices, and failure to object to construction as purported misrepresentations. (See R. p. 129, lines 12–18 (testimony describing Respondents' conduct and Appellants' assumption of boundary); R. p. 263). However, South Carolina courts have consistently held that mere silence does not constitute a misrepresentation unless there is a legal duty to speak. *Croft v. Sanders*, 283 S.C. 507, 510. There is no evidence that Respondents ever misrepresented the location of the boundary line, or that they acted in a manner intended to induce Appellants to detrimentally rely on any such representation. Any reliance on

informal conversations and routine yardwork was unreasonable in light of the recorded plat and subsequent survey.

**B. There Was No Reasonable Reliance by Appellants**

Equitable estoppel cannot apply where the party claiming estoppel had access to the truth. *Carolina Land Co. v. Bland*, 265 S.C. 98, 105, 217 S.E.2d 16, 19 (1975). Appellants' deed referenced a recorded subdivision plat which accurately depicted the true boundary. Despite this, Appellants failed to confirm the property line before placing permanent structures. This failure of diligence precludes reliance as a matter of law. Further Appellants, a time they closed upon the purchase of their property, paid for a plat that accurately depicted the boundary. With that information in hand, reliance landscaping was not reasonable.

**C. There Was No Detrimental Change in Position Caused by Respondents**

Appellants argue that they constructed improvements in reliance on Respondents' silence. However, estoppel requires a detrimental change in position that was proximately caused by the misrepresentation. *J.K. Const., Inc. v. W. Carolina Reg'l Sewer Auth.*, 336 S.C. 162, 519 S.E.2d 561 (1999). Here, Appellants made unilateral assumptions without confirming the legal boundary, and Respondents never made representations that induced or encouraged that assumption. For instance, Appellant's action in the construction of a boat ramp without reference to a plat prepared for the very purpose of disclosing property boundaries can not operate to the detriment of the Respondent. Any change in position was caused by the Appellants' negligence in failing to review the plat that had been prepared at their request.

The equitable estoppel doctrine is not designed to excuse speculative or careless property improvements made without legal certainty. Appellants' reliance was not only unreasonable but

also self-created. The equities in this case favor the party who retained record title, not the party who failed to perform due diligence.

Accordingly, the trial court properly rejected the equitable estoppel claim, finding that Appellants failed to prove misrepresentation, reasonable reliance, or detriment. That decision is consistent with controlling precedent and should be affirmed.

### **III. The Trial Court's Findings Were Supported by the Record**

The trial court made detailed factual findings after hearing testimony and reviewing evidence. These findings, including that Appellants' structures encroached upon Respondents' lot and that no mutual boundary agreement existed, are well supported and should be affirmed. In equity cases, while the appellate court may take its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, it must afford great deference to the factual findings and credibility determinations made by the trial court. *Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 229, 237, 391 S.E.2d 538, 543 (1990)

The trial court found that the Respondents never agreed to a modified boundary line and did not engage in any conduct that would reasonably support Appellants' claims of acquiescence or equitable estoppel. These findings are supported by substantial evidence, including the 2016 survey that confirmed the boundary line as depicted in the original recorded plat.

The trial court carefully weighed the testimony of the parties and their witnesses. It concluded that Respondents' actions—such as occasional landscaping or silence—did not constitute recognition of a new boundary line or any form of misrepresentation. These credibility-based findings are entitled to the highest level of deference and should not be disturbed. *Id.*

The order of the Special Referee thoroughly analyzed both the factual record and the applicable legal standards, applying them appropriately to reject Appellants' claims. Accordingly, the trial court's findings should be affirmed.

#### **IV. The Special Referee's Findings Were Proper and Well Supported**

The Special Referee correctly concluded that Appellants possessed constructive knowledge of the actual boundary line at the time of their purchase, and that their continued use of the disputed strip constituted unjust enrichment. These findings are consistent with South Carolina precedent and supported by the record.

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